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E MILLER STARR

1331 N. California Blvd. T 925 935 9400
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Matthew C. Henderson
Direct Dial: 925 941 3271
matthew.henderson@msrlegal.com

December 20, 2023

VIA PERSONAL DELIVERY, U.S. MAIL, AND E-MAIL

Adrianne Richardson, City Clerk
City of Tracy

333 Civic Center Plaza

Tracy, CA 95376

E-Mail: cityclerk@cityoftracy.org

Re:  Government Claim and Notice re Claim For Money and Damages
Against City of Tracy

Dear Ms. Richardson:

This office represents Surland LLC, Surland Communities, LLC, and their affiliates
(“Surland”) in connection with the above-referenced government claim and project.
This letter constitutes a written claim presented pursuant to the Government Claims
Act, codified at Government Code section 810 et seq., to apprise the City of Tracy
(“City") of claims for money and damages that Surland has against the City arising
from the City’s violation of Surland’s rights under contracts and agreements with the
City, as well as Surland’s property rights. As required by Government Code section
910, Surland provides the following information:

Claimant And Claimant Address: The claimants are Surland Communities, LLC
and Surland, LLC (collectively, “Surland” or “Claimant”). The post office address of
Claimant is 1024 N. Central Ave., Tracy CA 95376.

Address To Which Notices Are To Be Sent: The person submitting this claim on
Claimant’s behalf is its undersigned attorney, Matthew Henderson, and the physical
and email addresses to which notices are to be sent are as set forth below:

Matthew Henderson

Miller Starr Regalia

1331 N. California Boulevard, Suite 600

Walnut Creek, CA 94596

Email: "matthew.henderson@msrlegal.com
Telephone:  (925) 935-9400

Facsimile: (925) 933-4126
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Date, Place And Circumstances Giving Rise To Claim: This claim arises from
the City’s actions with respect to Surland’s rights under a variety of agreements and
documents with the City. More specifically, on or about April 8, 2013, Surland
Communities, LL.C and the City entered into an “Amended and Restated
Development Agreement” (“Development Agreement” or “DA”). On or about May 3,
2018, the City and Surland Communities, LL.C entered into a “Second Amendment
to Amended and Restated Development Agreement” (“Second Amended DA")
which made certain modifications to the Development Agreement. The Second
Amended DA was subsequently invalidated by judicial action.

On or about November 27, 2018, the City and Surland, LL.C entered into a Master
Program Improvements Credit and Reimbursement Agreement (“Reimbursement
Agreement”) by which Surland was to be reimbursed for the installation and
construction of public improvements that it was not otherwise obligated or required
to provide. Discussions between Surland and the City with respect to the
Reimbursement Agreement predated the Second Amended DA, and the
reimbursement obligations are separate and distinct from those set forth in the
Second Amended DA. Nevertheless, the City has taken the position that the
invalidation of the Second Amended DA also requires the invalidation of the
Reimbursement Agreement. The City has also taken the position that the
Reimbursement Agreement was not properly authorized by the City Council,
notwithstanding the fact that it was signed by the City Manager, approved as to form
by the City Attorney, and attested by the City Clerk. Surland also understands that
the City has routinely entered into similar agreements with the signature of the City
Manager without formal authorization of the City Council.

Accordingly, as of March of 2023 and continuing since then, the City has
represented to Surland that the Reimbursement Agreement is null and void and that
Surland would not be entitled to reimbursement for the substantial sums it had
expended under the auspices of that agreement. The City has not taken formal
efforts to rescind the Reimbursement Agreement, the time for performance under
which has not yet ripened, and thus is engaged in an ongoing anticipatory
repudiation of the Reimbursement Agreement. Surland has expended substantial
sums in constructing public improvements that it was not otherwise obligated or
required to provide in reliance on this agreement and the City’s representations that
Surland would be credited those amounts in fee reimbursements.

The City has also engaged in an ongoing repudiation of its agreement with Surland
that amounts expended by Surland to design an aquatic center for the City would
count against Surland’s $10 million contribution as called for in the Second
Amended DA. Surland expended more than $1.3 million on design and related
costs for the aquatic center, in reasonable reliance on its agreement with the City,
costs it would not have incurred had it the City not agreed upon the amended swim
center obligations as set forth in the Second Amended DA. Surland expended sums
in reliance on the City’'s assurance that it would be reimbursed as well as the City's
review and approval of its expenditures for the aquatic center design.

On or about January 22, 2021, Surland provided the City with a form Irrevocable

Offer of Dedication (“IOD”) pursuant to the Second Amended DA, which Surland
had signed and had notarized. The IOD included a certification for the City to
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countersign, indicating its acceptance of the IOD. This was a material term to
Surland, because recording the 10D without the acceptance would burden Surland
with owning the property covered by the 10D without being able to fully enjoy the
benefits of title thereto, as the City could accept the IOD and thus divest Surland of
title, while in the interim Surland would still be required to maintain, insure, and pay
taxes on the burdened property. However, someone at the City crossed the
certification out and inserted a new certification that the IOD was not accepted,
thereby causing Surland to fall into the position it had sought to avoid. The City
Clerk signed the certification on or about January 28, 2021, and the City wrongfully
recorded the 10D the same day.

On or about July 5, 2023, the City wrongfully accepted the improperly modified |0OD,
in spite of Surland’s protestations. The City was acting under the advice and
guidance of City Attorney Bijal Patel, who was not licensed to practice law at the
time as she had been suspended by the State Bar. The City’s position that the
Second Amended DA and all actions taken pursuant to it are void ab initio should
also render the 10D void ab initio as well.

General Description of Damage/Loss Incurred: The indebtedness, obligation,
injury, damage, and/or loss incurred, as far as it is known at this time, includes
damages or amounts otherwise recoverable from the City’s ongoing anticipatory
repudiation and/or breach of the Reimbursement Agreement, which gives rise to
claims for breach of contract, quantum meruit and unjust enrichment, estoppel, and
declaratory relief to contest that Surland is not entitled to the full financial benefit
under the Reimbursement Agreement, including reimbursement for amounts
expended in constructing public improvements beyond those required to account for
the impacts from Surland’s development, as well as attorneys’ fees. Said damages
and losses are exclusive of other nonmonetary and other claims Surland might and
does have against the City, including unlawful taking and/or inverse condemnation,
violation of due process, quiet title, declaratory relief, and specific performance or
injunctive relief.

The indebtedness, obligation, injury, damage, and/or loss incurred, as far as it is
known at this time, also includes damages or amounts otherwise recoverable from
the City for its failure to credit the amounts Surland expended on plans, designs,
and specifications for the Aquatic Center, including quantum meruit and unjust
enrichment and/or estoppel to contest that Surland is not entitled a full credit to its
$10 million obligation for amounts it expended on plans, designs, and specifications
for the Aquatic Center, as well as attorneys’ fees. Said damages and losses are
exclusive of other nonmonetary and other claims Surland might and does have
against the City, including unlawful taking and/or inverse condemnation, violation of
due process, quiet title, declaratory relief, and injunctive relief.

The indebtedness, obligation, injury, damage, and/or loss incurred, as far as it is
known at this time, also includes significant and continuing economic damages and
losses of vested property rights suffered by reason of the City’s improper
acceptance of the improperly altered 10D after said offer had already been signed
and notarized by Surland, upon the advice of the City Attorney when the City
Attorney was not licensed to practice law in the State of California, thereby depriving
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Surland of significant property rights and giving rise to a claim for quiet title to real
property.

Name of Public Employees Causing Injury: City of Tracy; City Council of the City
of Tracy. The individual members of the City Council are: Mayor Nancy Young,
Mayor Pro Tem Eleassia Davis, Mateo Bedolla, Dan Arriola, and Dan Evans.
Additional City personnel involved in these claims are Bijal Patel and Brian
MacDonald.

Amount Claimed: The estimated amount claimed exceeds $10,000.00, and is not
of an amount that would constitute a limited civil case.

Very truly yours,

MILLER STARR REGALIA
Moattrew C. Henderson

Matthew C. Henderson

MCH/mch:klw

cc: client
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